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The Causes of Poor Performance The Causes of Poor Performance 

+!+Poor management +!+Poor management (cont'd) 
• Sheer incompetence • Lack of balanced expertise at the top 
• Neglect of core business • Lack of strong middle management 
• Insufficient number of good managers • Lack of succession planning 
• Dominant, autocratic chief executive with • Failure by board to monitor strategic 

passion for empire-building decisions 
• Autocratic manager who tries to do it all in • Unethical behavior 

the face of complexity and change 
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+!+High cost structure +!+Overexpansion 
• Low labor productivity • Empire-building that adds little value 
• Low capital productivity • Loss of control 
• Inadequate financial controls • Declining profitability 

+!+Inadequate differentiation +!+Structural shifts in demand and new 
• Poor product quality competitors 
• Lack of compelling product attributes • Technology 

• Economic or political conditions 
• Social and cultural norms 
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The Causes of Poor Performance 
(cont'd) 

·:·Organizational inertia 
• Distribution of power and influence in the 

organization 
• Organization culture 
• Preconceptions about the appropriate 

business model 
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Stakeholders and Corporate 
Performance 

Stakeholders are individuals or groups with an 
interest, claim, or stake in the company, what it 
does, and how well it performs. 

Stakeholders are in an exchange 
relationship with the company 
• Contributions: they supply the 

organization with important resources 
• Inducements: in exchange they 

expect their interests to by satisfied 
Companies should pursue strategies that 
maximize long-run shareholder value and 

must also behave in an ethical and 
socially responsible manner. 

CopyrightC Houghton Mlmln Company.AlI right:! ~rwd. 

Strategy in Action 

·:·BiII Agee at Morrison Knudsen 

3" 

CopyrlghlCl Houghton MiIIlln ComPl1IlY,J\I! rights rtmIlVDd. 3 11 

Strategic Change: Improving 
Performance 

·:·Changing the leadership 
• New leader is often from outside the 

company 
• New leader must make difficult decisions, 

motivate, listen, and delegate 
·:·Changing the strategy 

• Redefine strategic focus 
• Divest unwanted assets 
• Improve profitability 
• Make acquisitions 
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Strategy in Action 

·:·Price Fixing at Sotheby's and Christie's 
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The Challenge for Principals 
Confronted with agency problems,~,·· 
the challenge for principals is to:'S;; 
1. Shape the behavior of agents so that they 

act in accordance with goals set by 
principals 

2. Reduce information asymmetry between 
agents and principals 

3. Develop mechanisms for removing agents 
who do not act in accordance with goals and 
principals 

Principals try to deal with these challenges 
through a series of governance mechanisms. 
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The Agency Problem 

.:. Agents and principals may have different goals 

.:. Agents may pursue goals that are not in the best 
interests of their principals 
• Information asymmetry: Agents almost always have 

more information 
.:. Difficult for principals to measure performance 
.:. Trust 

• On-the-job consumption 
• Empire building 
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Strategy in Action 

.:. The Agency Problem and the Collapse of Barings 
Bank 
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Agency Theory 

.:. Problems can arise in a business relationship 
when one person delegates decision making 
authority to another 

.:. Principal-agent relationships 
• Agency relationship: when one party delegates 

decision-making authority to another 
• Principal: person delegating authority 
• Agent: person to whom authority is delegated 
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Strategy in Action 

·:·Nike Sweatshop Debate 
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Real World 

·:·"The Jack-in-the-Box Poisonings-
Questionable Ethics?" 
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Closing Case Closing Case 

.:. Working Conditions at Wal-Mart ·:·Chainsaw AI Gets the Ax 
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Strategy in Action Real World 

·:·Self Dealing at Computer Associates ·:+"Body Shop International" 
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Closing Case End of Lecture 11 

·:·The Rise and Fall of Dennis Kowalski 

UFI~rum. 
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· froIll the NYSE in a. scandal over excessive 
· executive compensation (in one year Grasso 
'had received more than $130 million in pay). 
Under Thain's, leadership, the NYSE prospered, 
with its stock price rising 600% between 2004 
and 2007, and Thain's reputation rose. 

At Merrill Lynch, Thain found himself 
confronted by enormous challenges. Thain 
was able to raise additional capital for Merrill 
Lynch, helping to stave off bankruptcy. He 
also cut costs, laying off thousands of employ­
eesand exiting several businesses. To the 
employees that remained, he preached the 

· virtues of tight cost control, telling them that 
miscellaneous personal expenses had.to be 
reduced to a minimum. Ultimately, though, 
Thain recognized that Merrill Lynch could 
not survive as an independent entity. Although 
the federal government had already commit­
ted $10 billion in additio,nal capital as part of 
its financial rescues package for the banking 
sector, Merrill Lynch needed more. In the fall 
of 2008, he engineered the sale of the com­
pany to Bank of America. The acquisition was 
to close in early 2009. For all of these actions, 
Thain received overwhelmingly positive press. 
Under the acquisition agreement, Thain was 
to continue working at Bank of America, 
reporting directly to CEO Ken Lewis. It was 
at this point that things started to go terribly 
wrong for him. 

First, it was revealed that at the same time 
he was cutting jobs and preaching the virtues 
of cost controls, Thain also personally autho­
rized spending of $1.2 million to redecorate his 
office at Merrill Lynch. He spent $800,000 to 
hire a well-known designer, $87,000 on an area 
rug, four pairs of curtains for $28,000, a pair of 
guest chairs for $87,000, and so on. If that was 

not bad enough, it was soon diS~bv~t~cltbat 
had accelerated 2008 b9ri1J.s.p~Ytrien'tsa· • . 
Lynch by several weeks,:thej:eby'" . ' .. 
utives to collect bonuses before ~h,e. "' ........ ".,",_,c",,' 

by Bank of American closed.M.any '." '.~"'~'-~ 
. why Merrill Lynch was" graptill.g'ii1.Y': . 
given that 'the firrn:::wirsqo6kiflg't~tge,i6~ses; 
stock had lost. over' SOo/dbf'it§'v111ue; \and 
go~erninent ~as lencfutg $'10 bUU6n;t'6 the 
bled company., Compensatiqn, ~4 :h'P'T ,,,,fir~ 
Merrill Lynch totaled $15 '. " ... 
including $2 billion in bofiuse~; 
pensation-wa~'dciwn9ni+ ,~%" 
year. How, some l1sked,c9iild, ." 
jl,lstifiedgiven .'. the eIio~mous': t1 ,p~r""r'n 
stockholder V/~alth 'atMer.l:ill ~yn.ch? 
newspaperswere'r~portlligthatThain 
sonally lobbied the corripbrtsa!lbh" 
the boatd of drrectors fdi:~ ",,:'U.w..·UlllliVJll,. 

for 2008, arguing th~t he hid, .' 
the company by engineering)l sale ahd. 
be rewarded for it., When; this . 
became public, an'embairassed Thain 
sWitched his position and stated that. 
take' no bonus f01: 2008. . 

Things came to a head in . 
when Thain revealed to Ken Lewis 
Lynch's losses iIi the fourth 
much bigger than previously LHLJUl',UL" 

some $15.3 billion. Lewis, who 
furious at being misled, almost. 
buyout but was presslired to IJ~,"'~'-"~ 
federal governri:J.ent, which had 
J;l1oney to Bank of America, and 
ted another $20 billion 'in 
with Merrill Lynch's losses. 
the deal closed, however, 
annoUnced that Thain would 
pany. Effectively, he had been 
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Strategy in Action 

'111akerBoise Cascade dur­
. in his early thirties. He left 

.. 'tompany was forced to write 
milli6nbecause of earlier over-

'." " . 

: of timberland sales. At the time, 
:'j::tJlie:,t,rtilte:.lclowrnsweJreihe··· . largest in corporate history, but 

Jtiiisdiid~JiI:>tsltdp.A.g~(~·e"fi-~ .. ··"".· being appointed CEO of de­
':., teimie:coiltra:<;tOf; J.J.:.lJ.u.J.AlJ •. : ....... ·.976. when he.was only thirty­

\.t:i!iem11.K;·l\. ,g'l ee became irivolved in a fa­
. that~egan when he promoted 

~'.f":'.fUE'''~': '. "Cunhlrigham, to a senior post 
:c;v;v.i;:.:;;LUi;:,:'Ui;:.a.Ui) .. vL ........ J·,,·, '. . more experienced execu-

,,~~'~'~'"'''~~.:-·''I''' feltthe promqtion .. occurred 
. '. involved. Both de-

based Morrison 
.a.:S€~yellty,;jlV(~';y<:~ar~ .. oj ; construction corti-

1')Y1?"'&.¥:}f:i~~9!~(}~~pt;:.:L~~il~<tIP; ..... ' ,t4~ pr~e contractor on a 
rL/):rl1iltJl?et:Qtlarg¢.')we~tet:nbjl1strticti·( )n proje(:ts, including. 

'.' pipeline. By the 
waspercei'ved as a. 

·livi.)1g11pto its per­
stt;ate~&'fo~ nnprovirig per-

'. . assets and invest 
. conlpariies. At the 
large' cOhstruction . 

its rail carmaimfac-
.... raU car' man.ufa.cturing 

.' .' '."story at MI<, but it had 
. its own in the face of 

. th~ surface, however, things 
"l1,r"",>w-·'CE_· ... n" .·For one thing, 62 percent of 

' ... , .... from Agee's financial plays in 
sedllfitiestra(:liJ:lI~; cu:ic!'capital gains on asset sales. Strip out 

. ap~-I it.was clecrrthatthe operating per~ 
<>"<".: ... ' .............. ,: pootA prime reason seems to have 

.. ' "beeri'Agee'smslstericethat,inorder to win new business, 
" : \'" oj'. '. :: .. : ~~ ';'-: :;:.:;, .:,:":_: :.:. "', , .~ 

III 

MK should be the low bidder on large contracts. For in­
stance, when MK bid on a contract to build eighty transit 
cars for the Bay Area Rapid Transit District (BART) in 
Oakland, California, Agee knocked down the bid to $142 
million. According to one insider, the result was that "we 
were looking at a $14 million loss on the contract the day 
we won it:' In the second quarter of 1994, MK announced 
a $40.5 million loss after taking a $59.4 million charge for 
underbidding various transit car contracts. Similarly, in 
the third quarter of 1994, MK took a $9.2 million charge 
against profits for underbidding on a $100 million con­
tract to rebuild locomotives for Southern Pacific. 

To compound matters, there had been significant 
employee opposition to Agee's leadership. An anonymous 
letter sent to MK's board in November 1994 by a group of 
MK executives calling themselves the MK Committee for 
Excellence leveled a large number of charges at Agee. 
They claimed that Agee irked subordinates immediately 
by removing the portrait of MK's founder from the head­
quarters and replacing it with a nearly life-sized portrait 

. of himself and his wife, Mary Cunningham, paid for by 
the company. Agee further estranged insiders by quietly 
moving the CEO's office to his Pebble Beach estate in 

'. California a:nd by scoffing at the company's engineering­
orierited culture. Several old-hand MK engineering execu­
tives, Who had top reputations in their field, were fired, 
usually after crossing swords with Agee over his policies. 

There was also the matter of Agee's pay and perks. At 
$2:4 million, Agee's 1993 compensation was equal to 6.8 

. percent of MK's net income, more than any other CEO of 
a company with earnings in that range, according to a 
Forbes magazine list. According to insiders, MK paid $4 
million a year for a corporate jet for Agee, equal to l3 per­
cent of the company's general and administrative budget. 
The company also paid for landscaping services at Agee's 

. Pebble Beach estate. 
Things came to a head on February 1, 1995, when 

MK's board announced that the company would record a 
large loss for 1994. The board also announced that Agee 
would be stepping down as CEO, although initial indica­
tions were that he would stay on as chairman of the 
board. Preliminary figures suggested that MK would have 
to take a $179.6 million pretax charge in its 1994 fourth 
quarter, which would result in a net loss of $141 million 
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.,' , .. :.:.' •.. ', ,:' .',.. ,,", .. ". ~ !. : ,~. 

. . .....•••. for' the. qll~te~.,At:the ,same. time,Standard & Poor's ., leadership~ Stung by thiscritici~m,'the:gr6Vvfug ~~cl¢ht~:i.,::;'!:: 
, :;d6.WngradedMK~s 10rig:.term debt ,to junk bond 'rating, . ". of financial misillanagement under,Agee'sJeadersli{p;:illid.<}'}: 

: .',~igrialing thatasigniflcant ,risl\ of default existed. . . the downgrade ofMK's debt by . Standa.'td&::,Poor,-s;:, tIle),;" 
'. ' ••. ·.;:,Theaim(mnCe~entgaverise to a blizzard of share- board reversedjts earlier;-position ari&decid:~dtb\$trip?~:;;) 

, ",' 'polderlawsuits a:nd~riticisni, not onlY of Agee, but also, Agee ofill posts at MK. ':'. ': '. ,."" ':':;'i,:"::\,;:",,i<~~\,:,j,t~i,:r:;' 
',> 6f:MK~sbo~rd f.or acting so~lowly. ManY,c9mmentators " . ~The s4areholderlflws.uitswere::set.tle~iri,~.,S~Ptenihei<.>,';::: 

.", ·wppdei,ed why it:took a hugeJos~ an(lan anonymous let - ,1995. Under the agre,eITIent,·MK Wlls~t()payout$(j3 TIiillj()&i\:{;' 
jei;from1V1Kemployees to prod the board into action. in cash and stock t6 shareholders. thesettlenieiit~sdie;;?:>:: 

.'" .'Privt.ttelY;sheraL board members; most of .whom yvere qu,ired th~ c6mp~y tb'strengtheitAt~ :bC;ar(by"addi~'i:"'},t 
P", appoiIitet!sand)ong~tiinefr~erids of Agee,n1dic'flted that.' . seven new directors 6yerthenexttW6:::i~ar~:'1\s,;p.¥:(;~~:(;;:.j 
"theywer~ledastray' ~yAgee~ who. repeatedly w:ged. them; ,the' settIemel1t, Agee, agreedt6: relinquish"rlglifs:,tb',ap'qufY:\::z 

,'. 'ndt't<iworry, aboutpo6r resUlts. Still,Trlany 'felt that' the .... $3 . ~qIion In,severaiic~·pay:~nd.~oi· t#fIn'li~s:,M~y:;::i 
. " ,'audit committee of the board ofdirectotshaci not done a: . pensi6nfroln' $303;000 a year for life''f9$99;!.?:q:ay~~i:):J 

". ':goo~ job of y~tting MK's nnaIicial accounts under Agee's for ,life.a 
. . .. ,", . , '<,,:,~,~:;i::::<.i.)i·~i,;--);'f!L;%: 
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", "and:Chl:istie's·'aretl1e;furgl~g~st" "," , ,> :nnty 'toc~ntr61t1iis sitUati6~, S6fueb;'~'CEb;Dede ' 
,:houses iIi the 'wOrld. Irttherilidi990s; the tWq companies ":'~Biooks;' Illet' with her Opposite number " at;,Chiistie's, 

. ,controlled90percentof the firie: art~udidn market,wmch :: :<':Christophef Davidge; :iria series ofdaridestIDerrieetings , 
, ',,'at the time, was worth~soine$4billion ayear;Traditionillyj':> held in car parkihglots', that bega11 in 1993'; Brooks claims 

auction houses make their profit bYthecommissioi1they ',". '.,'::thatshewasacting bribehalfofher boss,Alfi:ed Taubman, 
, • , charge on auction sales~ In:good,times, these c6mmis~:','the,chru.rmanand conti'olli.TIg shareholder of Sothebis. 

, sionscanrange as high as 10 percent on some items; but' " ',According to Brooks; Taubman had agreed with the chair~ 
in the early 1990s, 'the auction business,w(!.sin a, slump" 'manof Christie's, Anthony Teruiant,to work together in 

. with the supply of art fot' auction drying up. With . ' ~the weak auction market and limit price competition. In 
S()theby's and Christie'sdesperatef01;works of art, sellers 'their meetings, Brooks: ,and Davidge agreed to a fixed 
played the two houses off against each other, driving , and 110nnegotiable commission structure. Based on a 
commissions down to 2 percent or even lower. ,sliding" scale, the' commission structure would range 
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from 10 percent on a $100,OOOitelTI to 2 percent on a 
$5 million item.' IneffeCt;'l3rooksand ,Davidge ,were 

, agreeing to·, .eliminate price competition ,. between them, 
',thereby guaranteeing· both:auctionhouses higher profits. 
... The price-:fixing agreement started in: 1993 ,andcontin- ' 

ued unabated for six years until federal investigators un-
covered the arrangement arid brought charges· against 
Sotheby's and Christie's., .. , ' 
. ,With the deal out in the open, lawyers fUed several 
class action lawsuits on behalf of ,sellers ,who had been 
defi:audedby Sotheby's and Christie's. Ultimately, some 

. 100;000 sellers signed on to the class actionlawsuits, ' 
which the auction houses settled with a $512 million 
payment. The auction houses 'also pleadedgUiIty to·· 

. .... . " ,',. 
',: ., 

price fixing and paid $45 million in fines to U.s.an­
titrust authorities. As for the key players, the chairman 
of Christie's, as a British subject, was able to avoid pros­
ecutioninthe United,States(price fixing is not an of­
fense for which someone can be extradited). Christie's 
CEO, Davidge, struck a deal with prosecutors and in re­
turn for amnesty handed over incriminating documents 
to the authorities. Brooks also cooperated with federal 
prosecutors and avoided jail (in April 2002 she was sen,.. 
tenced to three years' probation, six months' home de­
tention, 1,000· hours of community service, and a 
$350,000 fine). Taubman, ultimately isolated by all his 
former co~conspirators, was sentenced to a year in jail 
and filled $7.5 million.b 



NiI<e: The Sweatshop Debate 

many ways the quintessential global corporation. Established in 1972 by former 
University of Oregon track star Phil Knight, Nike is now one of the leading marketers of athletic 
shoes and apparel in the world. By 2004 the company had more than $12 billion in annual rev­
enues, had a return on invested capital of 17.5 percent, and sold its products in some 140 countries. 
Nike does not do any manufacturing. Rather, it designs and markets its products and contracts for 
their manufacture from a global network of 600 factories owned by subcontractors scattered 
around the globe that together employ some 550,000 people. This huge corporation has made 
founder Phil Knight into one of the richest people in America. Nike's marketing phrase, "Just 
Do It!" has become as recognizable in popular culture as its "swoosh" logo or the faces of its 
celebrity sponsors, such as Tiger Woods. 

For all of its successes, the company has been dogged for more than a decade by repeated 
and persistent accusations that its products are made in "sweatshops" where workers, many of 
them children, slave away in hazardous conditions for wages that are below subsistence level. 
Nike's wealth, its detractors claim, has been built upon the backs of the world's poor. Many see 
Nike as a symbol of the evils of globalization: a rich Western corporation exploiting the world's 
poor to provide expensive shoes and apparel to the pampered consumers of the developed 
world. Nike's "Niketown" stores have become standard targets for antiglobalization protestors. 
Several nongovernmental organizations, such as San Francisco-based Global Exchange, a human 
rights organization dedicated to promoting environmental, political, and social justice around 
the world, have targeted Nike for repeated criticism and protests. News organizations such as 
CBS's 48 Hours, hosted by Dan Rather, have run exposes on working conditions in foreign fac­
tories that supply Nike. And students on the campuses of several major U.S. universities with 
which Nike has lucrative sponsorship deals have protested against those deals, citing Nike's use 
of sweatshop labor. 

Typical of the allegations were those detailed in the CBS news program 48 Hours in 1996. 
The report painted a picture of young women at a Vietnamese subcontractor who worked six 
days a week, in poor working conditions with toxic materials, for only 20 cents an hour. The 
report also stated that a living wage in Vietnam was at least $3 a day, an income that could not 
be achieved without working substantial overtime. Nil<e was not brealcing any laws, and nor 
were its subcontractors, but this report and others like it raised questions about the ethics of 
using "sweatshop labor" to make what were essentially fashion accessories. It may have been 
legal, it may have helped the company to increase its profitability, but was it ethical to use sub­
contractors who by Western standards clearly exploited their work force? Nike's critics thought 
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not, and the company found itself the focus of a wave of 
demonstrations and consumer boycotts. 

Adding fuel to the fire, in November 1997 Global 
Exchange obtained and leaked a confidential report by 
Ernst & Young of an audit that Nike had commissioned 
of a Vietnam factory owned by a Nike subcontractor. 
The factory had 9,200 workers and made 400,000 pairs 
of shoes a month. The Ernst & Young report painted a 
dismal picture of thousands of young women, most 
under age twenty-five, laboring ten and a half hours a 
day, six days a week, in excessive heat and noise and foul 
air, for slightly more than $10 a week The report also 
found that workers with skin or breathing problems had 
not been transferred to departments free of chemicals. 
More than half the workers who dealt with dangerous 
chemicals did not wear protective masks or gloves. The 
report stated that in parts of the plant workers were ex­
posed to carcinogens that exceeded local legal standards 

by 177 times and that 77 percent of the employees suf­
fered from respiratory problems. 

These exposes surrounding Nike's use of subcontrac­
tors forced the company to reexamine its policies. Realizing 
that its subcontracting policies were perceived as unethical, 
Nike's management took a number of steps. These included 
establishing a code of conduct for Nike subcontractors and 
setting up a scheme whereby all subcontractors would be 
monitored annually by independent auditors. Nike's code 
of conduct required that all employees at footwear factories 
be at least eighteen years old and that exposure to poten­
tially toxic materials would not exceed the permissible ex­
posure limits established by the u.s. Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration (OSHA) for workers in the 
United States. In short, Nike concluded that behaving ethi­
cally required going beyond the requirements of the law. It 
required the establishment and enforcement of rules that 
adhere to accepted moral principles of right and wrong. l 
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Strategy in Action 11.3 
The Agency Problem and the Collapse of Barings Bank 

In February 1995, the world was shaken by the revelation 
that unauthorized derivatives trading by a twenty-seven­
year-old Englishman, Nick Leeson, employed at the Sin­
gapore Office of Britain's oldest bank, Barings Pic, had 
amassed losses that amounted to $1.33 billion. The deba­
cle resulted in the collapse of Barings and its purchase, for 
one pound sterling, by a Dutch bank, ING. So ended the 

history of a 233-year-old bank whose clients at the time of 
its collapse included Queen Elizabeth II of England. 

Despite his youth, Leeson had been a highly success­
ful trader for Barings in Asia and was viewed as the senior 
Barings trader in Singapore. In September 1994, he 
started to speculate on the volatility of Japan's Nikkei 255 
stock index. His motives were to maximize the size of his 



bonus, which could have easily run into seven figures had 
his strategy been successful, and solidify his position as a 
major trader. His strategy involved simultaneously writ­
ing uncovered put and call options on Nikkei 255 futures. 
This procedure will make money for the option writer 
provided that the market stays within a relatively narrow 
trading range. When Leeson began his trades, the Nikkei 
was trading at around 19,000. Leeson's strategy made Bar­
ings money so long as the Nikkei stayed between 18,500 
and 19,500. Once the Nikkei went outside this range, Bar­
ings started to lose large amounts of money: about $70 
million for every 1 percent move above or below these 
limits. The loss was exacerbated by Leeson's aggressive use 
of leverage: he was writing the options using borrowed 
money. 

At first, the strategy worked. Leeson may have earned 
as much as $150 million for Barings from this strategy by 
the end of 1994. However, the strategy started to fall apart 
when the Kobe earthquake struck on January 17, 1995. 
Following the earthquake, the Nikkei fell below 18,500. In 
an attempt to push the market back above 18,500, Leeson 
purchased Nikkei futures, again using borrowed money, 
and increasing the size of his bet. It didn't work. Leeson's 
position deteriorated further on January 23 when the 
:,Nikkei fell 1,000 points to under 17,800. Increasingly des­
perate, Leeson responded to the crisis by borrowing more 
money to continue purchasing Nikkei futures in what was 
to prove to be a futile attempt to prop up the Nikkei 
index. By late February 1995, Barings had accumulated 
index positions that effectively amounted to a $7 billion 
highly leveraged bet that the Nikkei index would 
recover-a bet that was wrong. 

Leeson's actions did not go unnoticed by other 
traders in Singapore or executives at Barings Bank in 
London. However, Barings executives and other traders 
were under the impression that Leeson was acting on 
behalf of a major client-perhaps a big hedge fund. No 
one could conceive that the positions belonged to Bar­
ings. As for the cash required to purchase Nikkei futures, 
apparently much of this came from an account for a fic­
titious client that Leeson had set up as early as 1992. Into 
this account went some of Barings's own cash, along with 
all of the proceeds of Leeson's option sales, and some fic­
titious profits from falsified arbitrage deals. He then used 
this fictitious account to pay the costs of borrowing 
money to finance his trading positions. When the 
account was exhausted, Leeson turned to Barings in Lon­
lon, saying that he was executing trades on behalf of a 
major client who would settle up in a few days. Barings 
proved willing to send more money to their star trader in 

. Singapore. 

Bolstered by the arrival of additional funds from Lon­
don, Leeson kept up the charade until February 23 when 
the cash flowing out to cover borrowing costs exceeded 
Barings's preset limits. With the Nikkei continuing to 
decline, Leeson realized that he could no longer carry on 
with the game. He hurriedly faxed a letter to Barings in 
London tendering his resignation, adding that he was sorry 
for the trouble he had caused, and along with his wife 
boarded a plane out of Singapore. The next day, shocked 
Barings executives informed the Bank of England that they 
were technically bankrupt. The liabilities from Leeson's 
trades already exceeded $800 million and were growing by 
the hour as the Nikkei index continued to tumble. 

The collapse of Barings had much to do with a lack of 
internal management controls, which allowed Leeson to 
speculate on a massive scale using borrowed money. Lee­
son was able to get away with this because of the poor 
monitoring of his activities by Barings's senior managers 
in England. In July 1995, the Bank of England issued a 
report on the collapse of Barings. According to the bank, 
"Significant amounts were regularly remitted to BFS 
without any clear understanding on the part of Barings' 
management on whose behalf these monies were to be 
applied, and without any real demur." The Bank of Eng­
land's report also cited a number of senior managers at 
Barings for failing to apply proper controls. 

Leeson was later tracked down, arrested in Malaysia, 
and ultimately sentenced to a four-year jail term for 
fraud. In an interview he gave to the BBC from his jail 
cell, Leeson gave more insight into the collapse of Barings. 
Leeson said that he got away with his trading for so long 
because of the failure of key executives at Barings's Lon­
don headquarters to understand the business he was 
engaged in and to look more closely into his activities: 
"The first day that I asked for funding there should have 
been massive alarm bells ringing. But senior people in 
London that were arranging these payments didn't 
understand the basic administration of futures and 
options .... They wanted to believe in the profits being 
reported, and therefore they weren't willing to question." 

In a spectacular example of the agency problem, Lee­
son exploited the information asymmetry that existed 
between himself and senior managers to pursue his own 
interests, placing risky bets on the Nikkei stock market 
index that could have netted Leeson millions but in the 
event plunged Barings into bankruptcy and sent Leeson 
to jail. 

Sources: N. Bray and G. Whitney, "Barings Collapse Tied to Wide 
Cast:' Wall Street Journal, July 19, 1995, p. AS. T. Shale, "Why Bar­
ings Was Doomed:' Euromoney (March 1995); 38-41. "A Fallen 
Star:' Economist, March 4, 1995, pp. 19-21. 
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Jd¢k~in-the~i3o~ .. ' 
njanuary 1993, several hospiiaiS Pi Seattle 
started to notice a dramatic increase in the 
number of cases of E. coli bacterial infec­
tions. The E. coli bacteria are found in under­

cooked meat. The symptoms of infection include severe 
fever, diarrhea, and vomiting. In the case of young people, 
the infection can be life threatening. Most of the victims of 
this outhreak were .young, and many were in very serious 
condition. Epidemiologists quickly found a common ele­
ment: almost all of the victims had eaten hamburgers at 
local Jack-in-the-Box restaurants shortly before falling ill. 

Foodmaker, the parent company of Jack-in-the-Box, 
was quick to issue a statement denying that the meat 
served in-its restaurants was undercooked. At the same 
time, it blamed the outbreak on a batch of bad meat that 
had been delivered from a supplier. The supplier re­
sponded by placing blame on Jack-in-the-Box. \\;'hile 
Foodmaker and its supplier traded insults, the number of 
those infected rose to 200, and several children became 
seriously ill. Then Washington State health inspectors re­
vealed that local Jack-in-the-Box restaurants were cook­
ing meat at 140 degrees Fallrenheit; 15 degrees below the 
I 55-degree state standard that had been in force since 
March 1992. Foodmaker responded by claiming that'it 
had never reeeh'cd notification of the increase in stan­
dards. When Health Depanment officials came up with a 
copy of the notification that had been sent to local Jack­
in-the-Box restaur.mts, Foodmaker changed.iL'i position. 
According to Roben-Nugent, president ofJack-in-the-Box, 
the company had received the notification but the 'ice 
preSident whose responsibility it was to noti~· local area 
restaurants hadn't done so. Jack-in-the-Box indicated that 
it would take discipiinary action against the vice presi­
dent, whom iI refused to nan1e. 

Meanwhile the number of children infected had 
soared to 450, one had died, several were in a coma, and 
a number of others were listed as being in critical condi­
tion. At this stage Jack-in-the-Box offered to pay the hos­
pital costs for those infected. But there was a catch; in 

.·.·.':1:· 

., . i:~~ f~r paying me!li~ costs, the. company's lawYers . 
asked the parents of the infected cllildren to sign fOrIDS 
waiving their rights to subsequently me a lawsuit against 
Jack-in-the-Box. This request was greeted with outrage, 
and Jack-in-the-BOX once more had to shift its pOsition. 
This tiJ!le the company agreed to pay the full hospital 
costs Without requiring a waiver. 

By February 1993, the worst of the outbreak was 
over. However, for Foodmaker the impact was only just 
becoming apparenL Nation,,~de sales at Jack-in-the-Box 
restaurants had plunged 35 percent in the first two weeks 
of February, the company's stock price had lost 30 per­
cent of its value, and the company announced that it had 
put on hold plans to open eighty-five newJack-in-the-Box 
stores in 1993. In the next two years, Foodmaker 
recorded nine consecutive quarters of losses, totaling 
$167 million, while rl;!venues dropped 18 percent It cost 
the company a reported $44 million to settle lawsuits 
from angry franchisees, who blamed their falling sales on 
Foodmaker. and $4 million to settle a stockholder law­
suit. The company also reportedly ended up paying $90 
million in damages to ,1ctims and their families. 

What seems to have hun Jack-in-the-Box mos\"was 
not the outbreak iLo;eif, but the company's repealed at­
tempts to shift responsibility for the outbreak onto others, 
and its cynical attempt to link the offer of financial help to 
,ictims with lawsuit waivers. As a result, Jack-in-the-Box 
came out of -the crisis \\ith.it<; reputation larnished and its 
sales slumping. Compare this 10 johnson &Johnson, 
which came out of the Tylenol crisis ,,~th iL<; reputation for 
ethical behavior enhanced. ]t should be noted, though, 
that the lesson was not lost on Foodmaker. The company 
has completely overhauled its food distribution and 
preparation system to make sure this kind of thing does 
not happen again. Now Foodmaker's system is reponedly 
the best in the industry. Moreover, the company has ex­
plicitJy recognized that it responded inappropriately to the 
crisis and has vowed never to make the same mistake 
again.6-i 



PART 4 Implementing Strategy 

\ Running Case 

. Working Conditions at Wal-Mart 

Walton founded Wal-Mart, one of his core val­
ues was that if you treated employees with respect, tied 
compensation to the performance of the enterprise, 
trusted them with important information and decisions, 
and provided ample opportunities for advancement, they 
would repay the company with dedication and hard work. 
For years the formula seemed to work. Employees were 
called "associates" to reflect their status within the com­
pany, even the lowest hourly employee was eligible to par­
ticipate in profit sharing schemes and could use profit 
sharing bonuses to purchase company stock at a discount 
to its market value, and the company made a virtue of pro­
moting from within (two-thirds of managers at Wal-Mart 
started as hourly employees). At the same time, Walton and 
his successors always demanded loyalty and hard work 
from employees. For example, managers were expected to 
move to a new store on very short notice, and base pay for 
hourly workers was very low. Still, as long as the upside was 
there, little grumbling was heard from employees. 

In the last ten years, however, the relationship between 
the company and its employees has been strained by a suc­
cession of lawsuits claiming that Wal-Mart pressures 
hourly employees to work overtime without compensat­
ing them, systematically discriminates against women, 
and knowingly uses contractors who hire undocumented 
immigrant workers to clean its stores, paying them below 
minimum wage. 

For example, a class action lawsuit in Washington 
State claims that Wal-Mart routinely (a) pressured hourly 
employees not to report all their time worked, (b) failed 
to keep true time records, sometimes shaving hours from 
employee logs, (c) failed to give employees full rest or 
meal breaks, (d) threatened to fire or demote employees 
who would not work off the clock, and (e) required 
workers to attend unpaid meetings and computer train­
ing sessions. Moreover, the suit claims that Wal-Mart has 
a strict "no overtime" policy, punishing employees who 
work more than forty hours a week, but that the company 
also gives employees more work than can be completed in 
a forty-hour week. The Washington suit is one of more 
than thirty suits that have been filed around the nation in 
recent years. 

With regard to discrimination against women, com­
plaints date back to 1996, when an assistant manager in a 

California store, Stephanie Odle, came across the W2 of 
a male assistant manager who worked in the same store. 
The W2 showed that he was paid $10,000 more than 
Odle. When she asked her boss to explain the disparity, 
she was told that her coworker had "a wife and kids to 
support." When Odle, who is a single mother, protested, 
she was asked to submit a personal household budget. 
She was then granted a $2,080 raise. She was subse­
quently fired, she claims for speaking up. In 1998 she 
filed a discrimination suit against the company. Others 
began to file suits around the same time, and by 2004 the 
legal action had evolved into a class action suit that cov­
ered 1.6 million current and former female employees at 
Wal-Mart. The suit claims that Wal-Mart did not pay 
female employees the same as their male counterparts 
and did not provide them with equal opportunities 
for promotion. 

In the case of both undocumented overtime and dis­
crimination, Wal-Mart admits to no wrongdoing. The 
company does recognize that, with some 1.4 million em­
ployees, some problems are bound to arise, but it claims 
that there is no systematic companywide effort to get 
hourly employees to work without payor to discriminate 
against women. Indeed, the company claims that this 
could not be the case since hiring and promotion deci­
sions are made at the store level. 

For their part, critics charge that while the company 
may have no policies that promote undocumented over­
time or discrimination, its hard-driving cost-containment 
culture has created an environment where abuses can 
thrive. Store managers, for example, are expected to meet 
challenging performance goals, and in an effort to do so 
they may be tempted to pressure subordinates to work 
additional hours without pay. Similarly, company policy 
requiring managers to move to new stores at short notice 
unfairly discriminates against women, who lack the flexi­
bility to uproot their families and move them to another 
state at short notice. 

While the lawsuits are still ongoing and may take 
years to resolve, Wal-Mart has taken steps to change its 
employment practices. For example, the company has 
created a director of diversity and a diversity compliance 
team, and it has restructured its pay scales to promote 
equal pay regardless of gender. d 



Closing Case 

Chainsaw AI Gets the Ax 

In July 1996, Sunbeam, a troubled maker of small appli­
ances, announced that it had hired Al Dunlap as its chief 
executive officer. Sunbeam's stock jumped 50 percent on 
the news to $18 5/8 as investors eagerly anticipated the 
gains that the legendary "Chainsaw Al" would bring to 
Sunbeam. Dunlap's reputation was built on a highly suc­
cessful career as a turnaround specialist. Before joining 
Sunbeam, he had engineered a tough turnaround at 
Scott Paper. There he had laid off 31 percent of the work­
force, including 70 percent of all upper-level managers. 
The stock market valuation of Scott tripled during his 
tenure. After only eighteen months at Scott, Dunlap 
walked away with $100 million in salary, bonus, stock 
gains, and perks, a richly deserved reward, he claimed, 
given the gains that he engineered in the stock of Scott 
Paper. Now investors hoped that he would work the same 
magic at Sunbeam. 

Upon arrival at Sunbeam, Dunlap quicldy fired seven 
of Sunbeam's top executives. Then he spent three months 
formulating his strategy, which he unveiled at an analyst 
meeting in November 1996. It was classic Dunlap: Sun­
beam's workforce would be cut in half to just 6,000, eight­
een of the company's twenty-six factories would be 
closed, four divisions would be disposed of, and the num-

ber of products Sunbeam offered would be reduced by 81 
percent to 1,500. These measures were projected to pro­
duce annual savings of $225 million. Dunlap also laid out 
ambitious growth goals for Sunbeam, including doubling 
revenues to $2 billion (after divestitures), raising operat­
ing profit margins to 20 percent from 2.5 percent, launch­
ing at least thirty new products a year, and increasing 
international sales to $600 million. "Our growth mission;' 
he proclaimed, "is to become the dominant and most 
profitable small household appliance and outdoor cook­
ing company in North America, with a leading share of 
Latin American and Asian Pacific markets." 

Right from the start, there were questions about the 
feasibility of this strategy. Several securities analysts that 
followed Sunbeam wondered how the company could 
possibly increase revenues given the depth of the cuts in 
employment and products, particularly since the North 
American market for small appliances was experiencing 
no growth. Nevertheless, Sunbeam's initial results seemed 
to suggest that Dunlap could pull off this trick. Revenues 
grew by 18 percent in 1997, while operating margins 
income rose to $109.4 million and the stock price surged 
to around $50 a share. It looked as if Dunlap was about to 
prove once again that tough guys finish first. 
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However, under the surface were problems. To 
increase revenues, Dunlap was urging Sunbeam's man-

. agers to engage in a "bill and hold" strategy with retailers. 
Under this arrangement, Sunbeam's products were pur­
chased at large discounts and then held at third-party 
warehouses for delivery later. In effect, Dunlap was shift­
ing sales from future periods into the current period. 
Although the approach was not illegal, the ethics of the 
approach were certainly questionable. Later, Dunlap 
defended the practice, claiming that it was an effort to 
extend the selling season and better meet surges in 
demand. Sunbeam's auditors, Arthur Andersen, also 
insisted that the practice met accounting standards. 

In early March 1998, Dunlap announced that Sun­
beam would acquire three companies, including Cole­
man, the manufacturer of outdoor camping stoves. The 
stock market responded enthusiastically, and the stock hit 
an all-time high of $53. Some critics wondered, however, 
if this implied that Sunbeam could not hit its growth 
goals from internally generated sales. Shortly afterward, 
Dunlap announced that the company would book a first­
quarter loss of $44.6 million. Dunlap blamed the loss on 
underlings who had offered "stupid, low-margin deals" 
and insisted that it would "never happen again." To drive 
home his point, he fired a number of senior managers 
who, he claimed, were responsible for the "stupid, low­
margin deals;' including Donald Uzzi, Sunbeam's well­
regarded executive vice president for worldwide 
consumer products. Around the same time, Dunlap 
announced that he would cut 5,100 more jobs at the 
acquired companies and at Sunbeam. 

Dunlap's layoff announcement did not stop the fall in 
Sunbeam's stock price, which had been declining ever 
since the announcement of a first-quarter loss and now 
stood under $20. The decline in the stock price accelerated 
in late May 1998, when the highly regarded financial news­
paper Barron's published a scathing analysis of Sunbeam. 
In the article, Barron's alleged that Dunlap had employed 
$120 million of artificial profit boosters in 1997, without 
which Sunbeam would have recorded a loss. 

Dunlap was so concerned about the Barron's article 
that he called a special meeting of the company's board of 
directors on June 9,1998. The board had been supportive 
of Dunlap to this point, and he could count several long­
time friends among its number. What began as a straight­
forward meeting rebutting the Barron's article took a 
strange turn when one director asked Sunbeam's chief 

, financial officer, Russ Kersh, if the company would make 
its next quarter's numbers. Kersh admitted that they were 
"challenging." At this point, Dunlap asked all of the out­
side advisers to step out and then told the board that he 

and the CFO would resign unless they got the right level 
of support from the board. "I have all of the necessary 
documents in my briefcase," Dunlap was reported to have 
said and then stormed out of the room. 

Over the next few days, the board members started to 
dig deeper. One director placed a call to several top exec­
utives. He quickly discovered that many had lost confi­
dence in Dunlap, whom they characterized as abusive and 
unethical. He was also disturbed to hear that not only 
would Sunbeam miss its growth goals in the coming 
quarter, but that revenues would probably come in $60 
million below the $290 million recorded in the same quar­
ter a year earlier. 

Armed with this information, the board convened a 
second meeting on June 13. At that meeting, the directors 
all agreed that Dunlap had to go. Most of the directors 
were friends of Dunlap, but they felt betrayed by him, 
misled about the company's financial condition, its sec­
ond-quarter earnings, and its yearly numbers. That day 
they placed a call to Dunlap and told him that he had 
been dismissed. Three days later, the board also fired Russ 
Kersh, the CFO. Commenting on Dunlap's demise, the 
CEO of a competitor to Sunbeam stated that Dunlap "is 
the logical extreme of an executive who has no values, no 
loyalty, no honor, no ethics. And yet he was held up as a 
corporate god in our culture. It greatly bothers me." A for­
mer plant manager whom Dunlap had fired remarked, "I 
guess the house of cards came tumbling down. When you 
reduce your workforce by 50 percent, you lose your abil­
ity to manage. You can survive like that for months, not 
years:' Following the announcement that Dunlap had 
been fired, Sunbeam stock fell to under $8 a share, lower 
than it had been before Dunlap joined the company. 

Case Discussion Ouestions 

1. In whose best interests was AI Dunlap acting? Do you 
think he was honestly trying to discharge his obliga­
tion to key stakeholder groups, such as stockholders, 
employees, and customers? 

2. Do you think the Sunbeam board exercised its fidu­
ciary duty? What does this tell you about how boards 
can work? 

3. In retrospect, what might AI Dunlap have done differ­
ently to engineer a turnaround at Sunbeam? 

Sources: John Byrne, "How Al Dunlap Self-Destructed;' Business 
Week, July 6,1998, p. 58. G. DeGeorge, "Al Dunlap Revs Up His 
Chainsaw," Business Week, November 25,1996, p. 37. "Exit Bad 
Guy;' Economist, June 20, 1998, p. 70. Ellen Pollock and Martha 
Brannigan, "Mixed Grill: The Sunbeam Shuffle;' Wall Street Jour­
nal, August 19, 1998, p. Al. 
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Self-Dealing at Computer Associates 

Computer Associates is one of the world's largest software 
companies. During the 1990s, its stock price appreciated at 
a rapid rate, driven in large part by surging revenues and a 
commensurate rise in proffts. Because its revenues were 
growing more rapidly than those of rivals during the late 
1990s, investors assumed that the company was gaining 
market share and that high profftability would follow, so 
they bid up the price of the company's stock. The senior 
managers of Computer Associates were major benefi­
ciaries of this process. Under a generous incentive pro­
gram given to the company's three top managers by the 
board of directors-Charles Wang, then CEO and chair­
man of the board, Sarijay Kumar, the chief operating offi­
cer, and Russell Artzt, the chief technology officer-if the 
stock price stayed above $53.13 for 60 days, they would 
receive a special incentive stock award amounting to some 
20 million shares. In May 1998, Kumar announced that 
Computer Associates had "record" revenues and earnings 
for the quarter. The stock price surged over the $53.13 trig­
ger and stayed there long enough for all three to receive the 
special incentive stock award, then valued at $1.1 billion. 

In late July 1998, after all three had received the award, 
Kumar announced that the effect of Asian economic tur­
moil and the year 2000 bug "leads us to believe that our 
revenue and earnings growth will slow over the next few 
quarters:' The stock price promptly fell from the high 50s 
to less than $40 a share. What followed was a series of 
class action lawsuits, undertaken on behalf of stockhold­
'ers, who claimed management had misled stockholders 

enrich themselves. As a result of the lawsuits, the three 
compelled to give back some of their gains, and the 

of the award was reduced to 4.5 million shares. Wang 
down as CEO, although he retained his position 

chairman of the board, and Kumar became the CEO. 
This was not the end of matters, however, for Com­

Associates had attracted the attention of both the 
Department and the SEC, which launched a joint 

into the company's accounting practices. 
2002, they were reportedly focusing on a little-noticed 

the company had taken in May 2000 to reduce 
by 10%, or $1.76 billion, below what it had 

reported for the three fiscal years that ended 
The downward revisions, detailed in the 

10-K filings with the SEC, retroactively took 

hundreds of millions of dollars away from the top line in 
the 14 months preceding the May 1998 stock award to 
senior managers, including some $513 million for the year 
ending March 1998. According to the company, earnings 
were unaffected by the revision because the lost revenue 
was offset by a commensurate downward revision of 
expenses. The downward revision reportedly came at the 
urging of auditor KPMG, which replaced Ernst & Young as 
the company's accountant in June 1999. 

The implication that some observers were drawing 
was that Computer Associates deliberately overstated its 
revenues in the period prior to May 1998 to enrich the three 
top managers. The losers in this process were stockhold­
ers who purchased shares at the inflated price and longer­
term shareholders who saw the value of their holdings 
diluted by the stock awarded to Wang, Kumar, and Artzt. In 
a statement issued after a report of the ongoing investiga­
tion was published in the Wall Street Journal, Computer 
Associates stated that it changed how it classified revenue 
and expenses at the advice of its auditors. "We continue to 
believe CA has acted appropriately," the company spokes­
person said. "This change in presentation had no impact on 
reported earnings, earnings per share, or cash flows:' 

By 2004, it was clear that Computer Associates had 
been acting anything but appropriately. According to the 
SEC investigation, between 1998 and 2000, the company 
adopted a policy of backdating contracts to boost rev­
enues. For example, in January 2000, Computer Associ­
ates negotiated a $300 million contract with a customer 
but backdated the contract so that the revenues appeared 
in 1999. Although initially this may have been done to help 
secure the $1.1.;billion special stock award, by 2000 the 
practice represented an increasingly desperate attempt to 
meet financial projects that the company was routinely 
missing. Under increasing pressure, in 2002 Charles 
Wang stepped down as chairman, and in 2004 Kumar was 
forced to resign as CEO by the board of Computer Associ­
ates, which had belatedly come to recognize that the com­
pany's financial statements were fraudulent. In late 2004, 
in a deal with federal regulators, the company admitted 
to $2.2 billion in fraud. As part of the deal, Kumar was 
indicted by federal prosecutors on charges of obstruction 
of justice and securities fraud. In November 2006, Kumar 
was sentenced to 12 years in jail for his part in the fraud. 

J. Guidera, "Probe of Computer Associates Centers on Firm's Revenues;' Wall Street Journal, May 20, 2002, A3, 
Abramson, "Computer Associates Probe Focus on 1998, 1999 Revenue;' The Street.Corn, May 20,2002; C. Forelle, 

and G. Fields, "U.S. Indicts Sanjay Kumar for Fraud, Lies," Wall Street Journal, September 23, 2004, N. Varchaver, 
Confidential'; Fortune, November 27, 2006,172-178. 
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business dealings. The company's founder through its Trade not Aid program. More-
and CEO,.Anita Roddick, has become an en- over,.Body Shop does not pay "first world' 
ergetic spokesperson for the importance of ethics and wages for third world products," as it claims in its 
social responsibility. Body Shop competes in the interna- publicity. 
tional cosmetics and toiletries market but offers unique 
products derived from natural ingredients. The. company 
has based its success on the claim that none of its products 
is tested on animals, contains artificial ingredients, or is 
elaborately packaged. The products appeal to consumers 
who are concerned about animal rights and the environ­
ment. Under a program called "Trade not Aid," Body Shop 
claims to purchase many of the ingredients for its products 
from TbirdtWorld producers, and the company maintains 
that it pays its suppliers well. It also makes a point of plow­
ing money hack into the communities where its suppliers 
are based to suppon a variety of health and educational 
projecl<;. This commitment to social responsibility helped 
propel Body Shop from a single store in 1976 to a global 
enterprise '\ith ),) 00 stores in forty-five countries and-an" 
nual revenues of more than $700 million in 199;~ Accord~ 
ing to Roddick, 

You can run a business differently from the way most· 
businesses are run, vou can share your prosperity \\ith 
employees, and empower them without being in fear of 
them. You c;m rewrite the book in terms of how a com­
pany interacts \\ith the community, on third ,,'orld 
trade, glohal responsibilit)~ and the role of educating 
customers ;md shareholders, and you can do all this 
and still play the game according to the City [the British 
version of Wall Street], still ntise money, delight tlle In­
stitutionsand give shareholders a wondrous return on 
their investmenl. 

Roddick's philosophy helped turn Body Shop into the 
darling of the business ethics community. However, the 
good feeling was rudely shattered in the fall of 1994 when 
a journalist, Jon Entine, published an article highly critical 
of Body Shop in the Busi1less Elbics magaZine. Among 
other things, Entine made the follOWing claims: 

• Body Shop uses many outdated, off-the-shelf product 
formulas filled with nonrenewable petrochemicals. 

• Many of it'> producl" are cont:lminated and conL'lin 
formaldehyde, an anifichu ingredient. 

• The company's charitable contributions and progres­
sive environmental standards fall short of it's claims. 
Until 1994, the company never contributed more 
than 1.24 percent of its pretax profits to charitable 
organizations. 

• The company invented stories about the exotic ori­
gins of some of its products. 

Entlne's article drew a vigorous response from Gordon 
Roddick, the chairman of Body Shop. International. In a 
t~-page lelter:sent to all subscribers of Business Ethics 
magazine, Roddick claimed that Entine's article was filled 
with "many lies, distortions, and gross inaccuracies .... I 
am at a loss to find anything balanced or fair in this article." 

. Roddick went on in the letter to give a detailed rebuttal of 
Entine's charges. For exanlple, \\~th regard to the Trade not 
Aid program, Roddick observed that Entine's article 

goes after our Trade not Aid program, building its at­
tack around an utterly irrelevant statistic-the percent­
age of our ingredients tlmt come from Trade not Aid 
projects. \,('hat is tllis number supposed to.reveal? It . 
certainly tells us nothing about the effectiveness of our 
efforts. Or the amount of time we have put into nurtur­
ing these projecl'" Or the obstacles we have had to 
overcome due to the lack of infrastructure in disenfran­
chised Third World communities .... One single ingre­
dient, such as Brazil nut oil or cocoa bUller, may take 
two years or more to source and develop. Believe me, 
there are much easier ways to do business than by tak­
ing on the problems of such projects .... We do it be­
cause we are asked to help by the disenfranchised 
communities themselves. The only Significant measure 
of our success is the number of people who are directly 
beneficially affected by our activities. That is a number, 
I am proud to say, that runs into the thousands. 

Body Shop foIl owed up Entine's attack by commis­
sioning an independent "ethics audit" by the New Eco­
nomics Foundation, a London-based ethics business 
consultant Issued in January 1996, the audit reponed that 
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-:~t;~t~;fti;;:> .:. 
i:~~~~:':2i~~~t.{~:f:.~~~. c)~ that .it is pos-
. e~carand. socially re­

and still "give shareholders a 
i;:~:om:l!:Ql1s·retilm ori theft illvesfuient"l ~: ... ' .'. 

~ -,- ~- ?:~j;::'::<~.~:t ~ ',: J~;:... ... - •.•• :.~ ",;: " 
. 2:'· . IS percentage of ingredients that come from Trade 
, ~. . ·not Aid projects an irrelevant statistic, as Gordon Rod-

... dick claims? ... . 

3. In light of the ethics audit report, evaluate Body Shop's 
claims to be ethically responsible. 

, .: .... 
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